THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Master-in-Equity

Hon. Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

\_\_\_\_\_  
Case No. 2015-001807  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

FEB 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Winrose Homeowners' Association, Inc. and Regime Solutions, LLC..... Respondents,

v.

Devery A. Hale and Tina T. Hale..... Appellants.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**  
\_\_\_\_\_

Brian L. Boger  
Phillip A. Curiale  
The Law Office of Brian L. Boger  
1331 Elmwood Ave., Suite 210  
Columbia, SC 29201  
803-252-2880  
Attorneys for Appellants

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO VACATE SALE BECAUSE THE SALE PRICE SHOCKS THE CONSCIENCE.**
  
- II. **WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO VACATE SALE BECAUSE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION FORECLOSURE DEMAND THAT THE SALE BE VACATED IN EQUITY.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Vacate Sale of a homeowner's association (HOA) foreclosure of lien. Appellants Devery and Tina Hale are the original owners and residents of the real property at issue. On February 24, 2014, Respondent Winrose Homeowner's Association, Inc. (Winrose) filed a Complaint for foreclosure of a Homeowner's Association lien on the Appellants' residence. The property was purchased by Respondent Regime Solutions, LLC (Regime Solutions) at public sale on August 4, 2014 for \$3,036.00. The Hales filed a Motion to Vacate the Sale for the inadequacy of the successful bid. The Motion was heard on February 6, 2015 by the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity for Richland County. On April 21, 2015, Judge Strickland filed an Order Denying the Motion to Vacate Sale. Appellants filed a timely Notice of Appeal on August 21, 2015.

## FACTS

Appellants Devery and Tina Hale have lived in their home located at 25 Caddis Creek Court, Irmo, South Carolina, since they executed the original note and mortgage in 1998. (R. pp. 16, ¶ 3, 29). In 2011, Appellants got behind on their HOA dues. (R. p. 16, ¶ 7). Respondent Winrose Homeowners' Association, Inc. filed an action for foreclosure of the

HOA lien. (R. pp. 16-17). The property was sold at public sale, and the successful bid by Respondent Regime Solutions, LLC was for \$3,036.00. (R. pp. 25, 72, lines 15-16, 6, lines 23-25). Appellants offered Respondent Regime Solutions, LLC, \$9,000 to repurchase the property, but their offer was not accepted. (R. p. 74, lines 4-6, lines 11-12). Appellants filed a Motion to Vacate Sale on November 4, 2014. (R. pp. 29-47). The Motion was denied, and this appeal follows. (R. pp. 12-15).

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity.” *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 248, 715 S.E.2d 348, 352 (Ct. App. 2011). The South Carolina Court of Appeals “review[s] factual findings and legal conclusions in an equitable action de novo.” *Id.* In addition, the interpretation of an order is a question of law subject to de novo review. *See Ex parte TLC Laser Eye Ctrs. (Piedmont/Atlanta), LLC*, 404 S.C. 385, 392, 745 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2013). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the circuit court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” *Carson v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 400 S.C. 221, 229, 734 S.E.2d 148, 152 (2012).

### ARGUMENT

A man’s house is his castle. A common phrase in modern literary works, the sentiment can be traced back to Roman times. The English phrase was coined in the 1600s by English barristers and commentators of law to mean that real property is, by maxim, sacredly tied to the landowner. *See Robert J. Alberts, Drug Testing Tenants: Does It Violate Rights of Privacy?* 38 Real Prop. Prob. & Tr. J. 479, 486 (2003). According to many

commentators, a violation of a man's home is akin to an assault on the body of the man himself. *Id.* The saying and the purpose of that saying "is still alive and taken seriously as a legal and moral exemplar." *Id.* The Hales have had their rights in their property violated, and this violation goes to the heart of their pride in being a homeowner. They are not asking to be relieved of their responsibility to pay HOA fees. They are asking that the HOA conduct their debt collection in a way that does not violate some of these Appellants' most important and meaningful rights.

The successful bid in the instant case both "shocks the conscience" of the court, and may also be set aside by the power of this court to decide that there are accompanying circumstances warranting the vacation of this sale. According to the *Poole* test, "[a] judicial sale will be set aside when either: (1) the sale price is so gross as to shock the conscience; or (2) the sale is accompanied by other circumstances warranting the interference of the court." *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Turner*, 378 S.C. 147, 151, 662 S.E.2d 424, 425 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Poole v. Jefferson Standard Life Ins. Co.*, 174 S.C. 150, 177 S.E. 24 (1943)); see also *BFP v. Resolution Trust Corp.*, 511 U.S. 531, 542, 114 S.Ct. 1757, 128 L.Ed.2d 556 (1994) ("[A] foreclosure sale might also be set aside under State foreclosure law if the price is so low as to 'shock the conscience or raise a presumption of fraud or unfairness.'"). Courts in South Carolina have been setting aside judicial sales based on "grossly inadequate" sales prices. *Turner*, 378 S.C. at 151, 662 S.E.2d at 425. South Carolina courts "have consistently held that when foreclosure sale prices amount to less than ten percent of the actual value of the property, the discrepancy shocks the conscience of the court." *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 71, 762 S.E.2d 729, 734 (Ct. App. 2014). However, it is evident that the court has not had the intention of

creating black letter law as to the equation to be used or the percentage that would decidedly “shock the conscience” of the court. *See E. Sav. Bank, FSB v. Sanders*, 373 S.C. 349, 359, 644 S.E.2d 802, 807 (Ct. App. 2007) (stating “South Carolina has not established a bright line rule for what percentage the sale value must be with respect to the actual value in order to shock the conscience of the court.”).

The South Carolina cases that apply to the instant situation have not specifically considered which equation should be used when deciding whether the amount of the bid shocks the conscience. In addition, none of these cases set out to determine what to do with senior liens in an HOA foreclosure and sale. In fact, Appellants argue that the courts have not clearly dictated what standard to apply in this situation. Appellants ask that the Court in this case: 1) divide the sale’s price by the equity in the property to properly determine whether the successful bid at the sale shocks the conscience of the court, and 2) consider the circumstances of an HOA foreclosure and sale to be different than court-mandated sales of other types.

**I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO VACATE THE SALE WHEN IT USED AN IMPROPER CALCULATION TO DECIDE WHETHER THE BID SHOCKED THE CONSCIENCE OF THE COURT.**

In each of the cases cited as precedent, it is evident that the court did not have the intention of creating precedent for the exact equation to be used or the exact percentage that would decidedly “shock the conscience” of the court. *See generally, Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc.*, 410 S.C. 62, 762 S.E.2d 729; *Arrow Bonding Co. v. Warren*, 399 S.C. 603, 732 S.E.2d 622 (2012); *Wells Fargo Bank, NA.*, 378 S.C. 147, 662 S.E.2d 424; *Investors Sav. Bank v. Phelps*, 303 S.C. 15, 397 S.E.2d 780 (Ct. App. 1990). However, a search of South Carolina jurisprudence reveals only when judicial sales are at least less

than ten percent of a property's actual value, our courts consistently held the discrepancy to shock conscience of the court." *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc.*, 410 S.C. 62, 71, 762 S.E.2d 729, 734.

**a. South Carolina law is silent as to which calculation should be used to decide whether the percentage of the bid in this case shocks the conscience of the court.**

The case law in South Carolina is silent as to the exact way to render the bid inadequate under the circumstances at hand, and the bid should be considered inadequate as to shock the conscience in this case.

The court in *Phelps* was primarily concerned with what the current fair market value (FMV) of the property should be because the defendants did not provide the court with a current appraisal. *See* 303 S.C. 15, 397 S.E.2d 780. The court affirmed that the sales price of \$510 shocked the conscience because it was less than 1% the original note and mortgage (\$48,340). *Id.* This court also distantly noted the amount of equity in making its decision when it considered that "[e]ven if the property was worth only a fourth of the amount loaned on it four and on-half years earlier, [the] bid would be only 4.2% of its value." *Id.* at 19, 397 S.E.2d 782.

The *Phelps* calculation is not precedent for the calculation in the instant case because it is unclear. The calculation that returned 4.2% is not stated and is likely different than the calculation used to determine that the bid was 1% of the value. *See id.* The court found that the 4.2% bid shocked the conscience of the court, although their calculation is not in the opinion. While Appellants agree with the Court in *Phelps*, the way that the court reached that mathematical conclusion is not clear.

In *Turner*, the court was again pressed with the primary question of deciding FMV, but the issue at hand was whether the note and mortgage presented at the initial hearing was sufficient notice to the purchaser of the value of the property. *See* 378 S.C. 147, 662 S.E.2d 424. The court decided that the sale should have been vacated because the bid was inadequate using the following calculation: Bid (\$3,000) divided by the original note and mortgage (\$86,025) equals 3.65%. *See id.*

In *Arrow Bonding Co.*, the court did not adopt the appellants' request to ignore the senior liens when considering whether the bid shocked the conscience. *See* 399 S.C. 603, 732 S.E.2d 622 (2012). However, the reason that the Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed the Master's decision to allow a bid amount of \$2,500 was because "the record is devoid of evidence of the true value of the property," and as such the appellants did not meet their burden to reverse the Master's decision. *Id.* The facts in *Arrow Bonding* are distinct from the facts in the instant case because the appellants in *Arrow Bonding* did not provide sufficient evidence of the encumbrances on the property. *Id.* The appellants in *Arrow Bonding* also neglected to argue that the court consider the equity in the property. *Id.* This is not the case here, because the Hales brought sufficient evidence of the senior liens on the property, have acquired an accurate and recent appraisal to determine the fair market value of the house, and requested that the below-mentioned calculation be applied in their case. (R. pp. 15, 33-46) In addition, the court in *Arrow Bonding* does not do the calculation for itself, citing only that *Phelps* used a percentage of 1.5%<sup>1</sup> and that the Master concluded that the bid amount was 39% of the assessed value. *Id.* at 607, 732 S.E.2d 624.

---

<sup>1</sup> This is unclear because the court in *Phelps* found that the bid was 1% or 4.2%, but did not have a finding of 1.5%.

For these reasons, the court should not attempt to adopt the procedure used in *Arrow Bonding* to decide whether the bid is inadequate in this case.

The main issue regarding the inadequacy of the bid in *Bloody Point* was which appraisal presented by the parties should be used for the property's actual value. *See* 410 S.C. 62, 762 S.E.2d 729. This is distinct from the issues in the instant case because the value of the property is evidenced by the Appellants' appraisal and has not been disputed.

It should also be noted that *Bloody Point* is the most recent South Carolina case, and it does not apply any specific calculation, stating only that "the Property would have to be worth more than \$115,930 for the foreclosure sales price to be less than 10% of the actual value." 410 S.C. 62, 70-71, 762 S.E.2d 729, 734. The court's unwillingness to state exactly what the Master should have done signifies that there is no precedent for this calculation. For the reasons stated above, *Bloody Point*, and the cases on point that precede it, invite the court in the instant case to use the equity in the property to more accurately consider whether the bid "shocks the conscience" of the court.

**b. The calculation in this case should not include the senior mortgage.**

Neither *Phelps* nor *Turner* considered senior mortgages in deciding whether the bid amount shocked the conscience of the court. *See* 303 S.C. 15, 397 S.E.2d 780; 378 S.C. 147, 662 S.E.2d 424. In the most recent South Carolina case, *Bloody Point*, the court did not consider the senior liens on the property when it decided that the sale price did not "shock the conscience." *See* 410 S.C. 62, 762 S.E.2d 729. Importantly, *Bloody Point*, like the instant case, is an HOA foreclosure, whereas the other cases are not. *Id.* The nature of an HOA lien is that of a second lien to the mortgage, but the court did not consider senior

liens in its calculation. The court in *Bloody Point* decided that the bid (\$11,593) should be multiplied by 10, and then would only shock the conscience if there was evidence in the record of an accurate appraisal greater than \$115,932. *Id.* Because *Bloody Point* is the most recent case, the calculation should be applied as closely as can be drawn from that case.

Additionally, at the time that the Master in this case denied the Motion to Vacate the Sale, it added the encumbrances to the amount that Regime Solutions “pays” for the property. To have considered the amount already paid is an error of fact. The bidder in a HOA foreclosure action is required to take the property subject to the senior mortgages. However, it is not required to *assume* those mortgages. It was an error for the Master to include the senior mortgage in its calculation because the bidder is not personally liable, the evicted defendants are the ones personally liable.

Applying the *Bloody Point* calculation, the successful bid by Regime Solutions in this case (\$3,036) multiplied by 10 is \$30,360. This is much less than the appraisal amount of \$128,000 presented by the Appellants. Without evidence that the property is worth less than \$30,360 the decision by the Master to deny the Motion to Vacate Sale should be reversed. Stated another way, the bid amount (\$3,036) divided by the appraisal amount (\$128,000) renders the bid in this case 2.3% of the value. Therefore, the Master committed an error of law when it applied the senior mortgages to the bid amount and decided the sale price did not shock the conscience.

**c. In the alternative, the calculation should use the equity in the home to determine whether the bid shocks the conscience of the court.**

Because there is no precedent in South Carolina as to how the percentage should be determined to decide whether the bid shocks the conscience of the court, the court in

this case should adopt the calculation used by United States Bankruptcy Court of the Southern District of New York. See *In re 824 South East Boulevard, Inc. (In re 824)*, No. 12-01028, 2012 WL 3561981 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 17, 2012). Like South Carolina law, *In re 824* notes that “sales below 10% of the FMV are unconscionable, while sales at or above 50% of fair market value have been consistently upheld.” *Id.* The court examined whether it should void the foreclosure in light of evidence that the senior liens on the property were \$3,000,000<sup>1</sup> and the property value was \$5,510,000. *Id.* The court determined that the successful bidder “may have purchased the Premises with equity of approximately \$2,510,000 for only \$116,910.32. . . . Assuming this figure is accurate, it would represent a sale price of about 4.7% of the value of the Premises after subtraction of the two senior mortgages.” *Id.* The court in *In re 824* properly concluded that the sale price was unconscionable because the value (\$5,510,000) minus the encumbrances (\$3,000,000) left equity of (\$2,510,000), and the successful bid (\$116,910.32) divided by the equity (\$2,510,000) was a mere 4.7% of the value. *Id.* This is a reasonable way to decide whether the sale price shocks the conscience when there are senior liens to consider, especially in cases when an HOA lien will usually be subject to a senior mortgage.

The equation from *In re 824* should be used in this case, and in all HOA foreclosures, to determine whether a sale bid shocks the conscience. This calculation begins by finding the equity in the property. This is because, even when applying the senior liens, the successful bidder will acquire the equity that is already in the property from the

---

<sup>1</sup> There were possible judgment liens in addition to the \$3,000,000 in mortgage liens that the court also considered. It noted that if those liens were included, the Premises was subject to encumbrances in excess of its value. However, if those liens were found to be junior, then the above calculation rendered the bid unconscionable, as it is well below 10 percent.

foreclosure sale. This can be found by adding the bid amount to the senior liens, and then subtracting that from a recent appraisal that reflects the fair market value. This results in the amount of equity that will be acquired by the purchaser for free. In other words, the equity in the property at the time of sale is what the successful bidder acquires, and therefore should be the most important amount in considering whether the bid shocks the conscience. Appellants argue that the bid amount should thereafter be divided by the equity that the purchaser has acquired “for free.” This percentage should be considered for whether the sale price should be vacated for inadequacy.

In the instant case, the following calculation would result: Regime Solution’s successful bid amount (\$3,036) added to the amount of senior mortgages on the property (\$66,000), subtracted from the appraisal or FMV of the property (\$128,000). Regime Solutions essentially purchased \$59,000 in equity for \$3,036. Their bid of \$3,036 divided by \$59,000 of equity renders the successful bid in this case 5%, which is well below the 10 percent that has consistently shocked the conscience of the court.

**d. The HOA should be responsible for conducting a brief investigation into the equity on each of its foreclosed properties.**

On a separate issue in *Arrow Bonding*, the court discusses that it is not the Master’s responsibility to conduct a title search, discover liens, determine the true value of property, and subsequently devise an appropriate sale price. 399 S.C. 603, 732 S.E.2d 622. Appellants in this case run into a similar issue: who is responsible for conducting an investigation into the equity of the property in an HOA foreclosure sale? For the court to properly institute the above-proposed calculation, it must dictate that the HOA is responsible for the calculation in cases of HOA foreclosures.

The HOA is in the best position to determine a sale price that does not shock the conscience, and it has an interest in the sale not being vacated. HOA foreclosures are an epidemic that cannot be dealt with using the current black letter law, and require additional safeguards to make sure that the circumstances will not warrant interference. The HOA is in the best position to determine if the sale will be overturned because it has access to the amount of its lien, and to the public record accounting for all senior liens. It also has access to the tax records or the amount of the original note and mortgage to determine the FMV of the property. Appellants believe this is the only way to satisfy concerns of fairness and ensure that HOA foreclosures in South Carolina do not remain the problem that they are in this case.

**II. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS HOA FORECLOSURE DEMAND THAT THE SALE BE VACATED IN EQUITY.**

When the lower court did not weigh the equitable maxims and principles that are essential in ruling on the Motion to Vacate Sale, it abused its discretion. “A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity.” *Regions Bank*, 394 S.C. 241, 248, 715 S.E.2d 348, 352. “Equitable principles are not binding legal precedent but represent notions and concepts of equity in various situations.” *Id.* “The judicial process is the continuous effort on the part of the courts to state accurately these general rules, with their proper and necessary limitations and exceptions.” *Id.* That said, in actions for equity, the courts have “the inherent power to do all things reasonably necessary to insure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible.” *Ex parte Dibble*, 279 S.C. 592, 595, 310 S.E.2d 440, 442 (Ct. App. 1983).

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