THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Joseph M. Strickland, Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2015-001807

RECEIVED
FEB 23 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Winrose Homeowners' Association, Inc. and Regime Solutions, LLC.....Respondents,

v.

Devery A. Hale and Tina T. Hale.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, REGIME SOLUTIONS, LLC

Eric C. Hale, S.C. Bar # 71768
Clarkson Law Firm, LLC
P.O. Box 287
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 726-3558
Attorney for Respondent, Regime Solutions, LLC

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

In both *Phelps* and *Wells Fargo* the judicial sale was to foreclose a mortgage rather than a sale in execution of a judgment. The effect of a mortgage foreclosure sale is to remove the mortgage encumbrance from the property, and therefore the amount of the mortgage is a fair gauge of the property's value in the hands of the buyer. In a judgment execution sale such as this, however, the buyer takes the property subject to the mortgage as well as other liens. [citation omitted] The Master properly considered the amount of the mortgages and tax liens in determining the true value of the properties to the buyer at an execution sale.

Id. Accordingly, the Court concluded Warren did not meet his burden of showing an abuse of discretion in the Master's finding that the sale price was not so grossly inadequate as to shock the conscience.

Similarly, in the present action Appellants appealed the denial of their Motion to Set Aside Sale based upon the alleged error of the Master to consider the inadequacy of sale price by comparing the sales price to the properties' value, without considering mortgages or liens. As in *Arrow*, the Master in the instant case found that evidence submitted by the parties reflected a property value of \$128,000. (R.p. 12-15). Likewise, the Master in the instant case went on to find that there exists a mortgage lien totaling \$66,004. (R.p. 12-15). Since the property sold remained encumbered by the mortgage, the Master added \$66,004 to the sales price of \$3,036 and concluded that the effective sales price of \$69,040 represented about 54% of the property's value, which did not justify setting aside the sale. (R.p. 12-15).

The only other case cited by the Appellants for the proposition that the calculation of the sales price should not consider senior liens is *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 762 S.E.2d 729 (Ct. App., 2014). *Bloody Point* is admittedly a HOA foreclosure case addressing the adequacy of a bid amount, but it does not address the issue of whether senior liens need be considered in determining a sales price. Not once in the entire opinion is there a discussion of the existence of or the propriety of considering senior liens continuing to encumber the property purchased by the buyer at the foreclosure sale. In fact, contrary to the Appellant's assertion, the Master in *Bloody Point* determined that the buyer had paid an effective sales price of \$11,593.20 for the property, which figure was derived from the amount of the buyers bid amount of \$8,800 **plus** "\$2,793 in taxes and fees unpaid by Appellants" and therefore added to the sale price. *Id.*, 762 S.E.2d at 731. This addition of taxes and fees to the sales price was implicitly adopted by the *Bloody Point* Court in its determination that the Respondents purchased the property for \$11,593.20 and that the "master applied the correct legal standard in making his

determination.” *Id.*, 762 S.E.2d at 734. Therefore, Appellants have not met their burden of showing an abuse of discretion in the Master's finding that Respondent's bid is not so grossly inadequate as to shock the conscience and accordingly the finding of the court below should be affirmed.

a. Equity in a property is an improper and unworkable consideration in determining whether a bid shocks the conscience of the court

Contrary to Appellants’ assertion, as set forth *supra* there is precedent in South Carolina for how the percentage is determined to decide whether a bid shocks the conscience of the court. On the other hand, there is absolutely no precedent for the proposition that equity in a home is to be considered in such a calculation. Nothing is more demonstrative of this fact than the Appellants’ reliance on a calculation loosely mentioned by the non-binding precedent set forth by the United States Bankruptcy Court of the Southern District of New York in *In re 824 South East Boulevard, Inc.*, No. 12-01028, 2012 WL 3561981 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 17, 2012). What is telling about this particular case is the entire discussion of whether a sales price would shock the conscience is dicta by the *In re 824* Court:

Calculation of the percentage of fair market value paid ... requires a determination of the status of the Judgment Lien and possibly the value of the Premises, neither of which is feasible on the present record. ... New York docketing statutes, including CPLR 5018 and 5203, do not appear to address this issue, which has not been briefed, and the judgment creditors have not appeared on this motion. ... As the Defendants conceded at oral argument, resolving this issue may require an evidentiary hearing, depending on the outcome of Expo’s litigation regarding the status of the Judgment Lien.

Id. The fact is, the *In re 824* Court made no conclusions or determination concerning whether the sale price shocks the conscience, concluding simply that there was insufficient information before the court for such a determination, that such a determination was contingent on the

disposition of a related case, and the Court therefore denied “summary judgment without prejudice to renewal on the issue of whether the sale price paid at the foreclosure sale was unconscionably low and therefore 17 may be avoided under BFP and Bankruptcy Code § 548(a)(1)(B).” *Id.*

Perhaps more persuasive than the dicta of the United States Bankruptcy Court of the Southern District of New York is the fact that there is no binding precedent in this State to support the contention that equity is a consideration in the determination of the adequacy of a judicial sales price. There are a host of cases discussing the valuation of property and the determination of an effective sale price paid by a buyer (see *Investors Savings Bank v. Phelps*, 303 S.C. 15, 397 S.E.2d 780 (Ct.App.1990); *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Turner*, 378 S.C. 147, 662 S.E.2d 424 (2008); *Arrow Bonding Co. v. Warren*, 399 S.C. 603, 732 S.E.2d 622 (2012); and *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 762 S.E.2d 729 (Ct. App., 2014). However, there is not one that adequacy of a sales price in terms of equity. Perhaps this is because it is simply a quantity that is unknowable by the court, the foreclosing party, or the innocent purchaser for value. The only party to a foreclosure action with that knowledge would be the foreclosed homeowner. The fact is that Mortgage Notes are not recorded as part of real estate transactions in South Carolina. While the Mortgage or pledge of property as collateral is recorded the Note or obligation for repayment is not. So the affected homeowner is the party uniquely in possession of or capable of gaining possession of this information. There are a host of statutes prohibiting the disclosure of non-public personal information to anyone other than the borrower or his designee: *Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Services Modernization Act* (GLB Act), Title V of the Financial Services Modernization Act of 1999, Pub. L. No. 106-102, 113

Stat. 1338 (Nov. 12, 1999) (codified at 15 U.S.C. §§ 6801, 6809, 6821, and 6827); 16 C.F.R. part 313 (implementing privacy rules pursuant to GLB Act); *Fair Debt Collections Practices Act* (FDCPA) Pub. L. 95-109; 91 Stat. 874, September 20, 1977 (and as subsequently amended) (codified as 15 U.S.C. § 1692 –1692p) to name just a couple.

Perhaps the lack of precedent for considering equity in a determination of the adequacy of a sale price is because the information that is discernible by the court, the foreclosing party, or the innocent purchaser for value is at best speculative. While the amount and duration of a mortgage is public record, one can only speculate as to the status of the loan that the mortgage secures. It is quite possible the underlying loan is an interest only loan with a balloon payment where the only equity discernible would be appreciation in the value of the property. It is also possible that the loan instrument that is not public record contemplates future advances or was modified by the lender at some time between the loans origination and the present action.

Perhaps the lack of precedent for considering equity in a determination of the adequacy of a sale price is because the only information available concerning the value of a property that is discernible by the court, the foreclosing party, or the innocent purchaser for value is the tax assessed value. This value might be inaccurate for any number of reasons: the condition of the property has significantly improved or declined since the last assessment; the property has not been revalued by the tax assessor for a lengthy period; prior assessments were deflated or inflated due to the comparable sales in a neighborhood, etc.

The simple truth is that a determination of equity without the provision of information by the affected homeowner is speculation and conjecture. In fact, the *Arrow Bonding* Court stated that there was no authority which requires or permits the trial court to conduct a title search,

discover liens, determine the value of property and then calculate an adequate sale price. 399 S.C. 603, 608, 732 S.E.2d 622, 625 (2012). Using equity in determining the adequacy of a bid is not supported by any precedent in this State, represents an unworkable calculation, and improperly shifts the burden upon the trial court, the foreclosing party or the innocent purchaser for value to divine such a calculation. Therefore, this Court should reject the notion that equity should be considered in determining the adequacy of a bid at a judicial sale.

b. In the alternative the affected if equity is to be considered as an alternative valuation method the burden for so proving should be shifted to the affected homeowner.

In the alternative, if this Court is inclined to entertain equity as a novel alternative the existing precedential determination of the adequacy of a bid amount at a judicial sale, the Respondent suggests that the burden for so proving be shifted to the affected homeowner(s). As set forth *supra*, the affected homeowner(s) is in the best position to provide information on the equity in a property. Although there is no precedent for such a requirement, if this Court were to adopt a calculation including equity it would be consistent with the spirit of existing law to require the affected homeowner(s) to provide evidence of that equity. For instance, Rule 71(a) SCRCP provides that any party who has appeared in the action may present proof that the debt may be satisfied by selling the property in parcels, rather than selling the whole to satisfy the claims. Likewise, in the present circumstances, if the Court were to adopt equity as an alternative calculation to determine the adequacy of a bid, any party who has appeared, including the affected homeowner, could present proof that there is equity in the property such that the court could fashion a minimum bid amount that would not shock the conscience of the court. Although Respondent feels that this would have a chilling effect on competitive bidding and would place an unnecessary burden on the proceedings in light of existing precedent, if this

Court is inclined to adopt an equity calculation model Respondent would offer that placing the burden on affected party prior to sale is the only just and equitable way to do so.

This requirement on the burden would also be consistent with the existing law concerning bona fide purchasers at foreclosure sales. To be considered a bona fide purchaser without notice a party must show (1) actual payments of the purchase price of the property, (2) acquisition of legal title to the property, or the best right to it, and (3) a bona fide purchase. *Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 378 S.C. 140, 662 S.E.2d 420, 423, (S.C. App., 2008). A bona fide purchase is “in good faith and with integrity of dealing, without notice of a lien or defect.” *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 117, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874-75 (2006). There have been no allegations by the Appellants that Respondent has not satisfied each of the foregoing requirements.

The South Carolina Supreme Court in *Cumbie v. Newberry* held:

A sound public policy requires that the validity of judicial sales be upheld, if in reason and justice it can be done. In the furtherance of this principal, our decisions have applied the general rule, applicable here, that a purchaser in good faith at a judicial sale is not affected by irregularities in the proceedings or even error in the judgment, under which the sale is made; but is required at his peril only to make inquiry as to the jurisdiction of the court which ordered the sale, and whether all proper parties were before the court when the order was made.

(*Cumbie v. Newberry*, 251 S.C. 33, 37, 159 S.E. 2d 915 (1968) (citing *Wingard v. Hennessee*, 206 S.C. 159, 33 S.E.2d 390; *Brownlee v. Miller*, 208 S.C. 252, 37 S.E.2d 658; *Bennett v. Floyd*, 237 S.C. 64, 115 S.E.2d 659).) Similarly, Respondent herein can only be charged with matters that are of the public record. If the affected homeowner established, prior to sale, that there was equity in the property then any would be bidder would be on notice that the bid amount needed to be a certain amount to be beyond challenge for adequacy. Even if this methodology is adopt with approval from this Court, the outcome of this particular action is nonetheless unchanged as

the Respondent, as bona fide purchaser, cannot be charge with knowledge concerning the equity in the property which was not a matter of public record. Therefore, the ruling of the Master below should be affirmed.

II. THE EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES ADVANCED BY APPELLANTS IN THE INSTANT APPEAL WERE NOT PROPERLY RAISED TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR CONSIDERATION.

Much is made by the Appellants of the alleged inequities in this case and the failure of the court to address equitable maxims in its Order denying Appellants' motion to vacate sale. However, what is not mentioned by Appellants is not once in their motion or at the hearing on their motion did the Appellants seek to invoke any particular maxim, stating only that "this Court has the ability in its gavel to do equity where perhaps equity should be done." (R.p. 81-82, 19:25 – 20:1). And factually in support of this loose equitable power the Appellants seek to invoke they offer only that they are hard-working people, that they stand to lose significant equity, that they attempted to offer a settlement to the Respondent, and that the Respondent was being unreasonable. (R.p. 80-82, 18:18-22, 20:2-10).

"Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Issue preservation requires, at a minimum that an issue be raised and ruled upon by the trial judge. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). It is "axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *Id.* This requirement "is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law,

and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

In the instant action the Appellants never advanced any of the equitable maxims now being invoked for the first time on appeal. The closest the Appellants came was to implore the trial judge’s ability to use his gavel in furtherance of equity. Moreover, should the Appellants have desired the trial court to make a ruling on equitable issues they allegedly raised they had recourse to seek relief under Rule 59(e) SCRPC. “Where a matter is not ruled on by the Circuit Court, the issue is not preserved for appellate review unless the complaining party moves to amend the judgment pursuant to 59(e).” *Vespazianni v. McAlister*, 307 S.C. 411, 413, 415 S.E.2d 427, 428 (Ct. App. 1992); see also *Skinner v. Elrod*, 308 S.C. 239, 417 S.E.2d 599, 602 (Ct. App. 1992) (to properly preserve an issue for appeal one must make a motion for the master to alter or amend his order regarding a specific allegation). For this reason the equitable arguments advanced by Appellants are not properly before this court and therefore the order of the Master below should be affirmed.

- a. **Even if this Court were inclined to review the equitable maxims raised, equity nonetheless favors the Respondent.**